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Its ravages that year were limited, and but little damage was sustained ify

+ the crops of wheat. The crop of 1797, in the counties contiguous to the
Potomac, was generally destroyed, and the same year partial injury was
discovered in Frederick county. The crop of 1798, throughout the coun-
ty of Frederick, was nearly destroyed. Ever since which time the far-
mers have annually suffered more or less from the ravages of this destruc-
tive destroyer.. This insect had prevailed in some of the northern States
for several years before it reached Virginia. It is said it first appeared on
Long Island, and was believed to have been imported by the Hessian
troops in their straw bedding in the time:of the war of the revolution.—
If this be true, it was a woful curse upon our country—of which it pro-
bably will never be relieved. The present generation have abundant
cause to execrate the inhuman policy of our parent State in bringing up-
on us this heavy calamity, and all future generations will probably join in
condemning the British ministry who forced upon ocur ancestors. that un-
righteous and disaatrous war.

CHAPTER. XIII.
NQRTHERN NECK OF VIRGINIA

.CuarLes II., king of England, granted to the ancestoss of the late lord
Fairfax all the lands lying between the head waters of the Rappahannock
and Potomac to the Chesapeake bay. This immense grant included the
territory now comprising the counties of Lancaster, Northumberland,
Richmond, Westmoreland, Staflord, King George, Prince William, Fair-
fix, Loudon, Fauquicr, Culpeper, Madison, Page, Shenandoah, Hardy,
Hampshire, Morgan, Berkeley, Jefferson and Frederick.. It is- said that
the first grant to the ancestors of Fairfax -was only intended to include

- the territory in the Northern Neck east of the Blue ridge; but after Fair-
fax discovered that the Potomac river-headed in the Adlegany mountains,
he returned to England, and instituted his petition in the: court of
kimng’s bench for extending his grant into the Allegany mountains, so as
to include the territory composing the present counties of Page, Shenan-
doah, Hardy, Hampshire, Morgan, Berkeley, Jefferson and Frederick.—
A compromise took place between Fairfax and the erown: but previous
to the institution of Fairfax’s suit, several individual$had obtained grants
for large bodies of land west of the Blue ridge, from the colonia: govern-
ment of Virginia. In the ecompromise: it was expressly stipulated that
the holders of lands, under what were then called the king’s grants, were:
W be quieted inthedr right of possessicn.. ~

I
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Joist Hite and his partners had obtained grants fora large body. Fai® |
&ax, under the pretext that Hite, &c., had not complied with the terms of
their grants, took it upon himself to grant away large quantities of these
lands to other individuals. This arbitrary and high-handed proceeding
on the part of his lordship, produced a lawsuit, which Hite and his part-
ners instituted in the year 1736, and in the year 1786 it was decided.—
Hite and partners recovered a large amount of money for the rents and
profits, and a considerable quantity of land.*

The immense Fairfax estate has passed out of the hands of Fairfax’s
heirs. The lands (as observed in a preceding chapter) were granted by
Fairfax in fee simple to his tenants, subject to an annual rent of two shil-
lings sterling per hundred acres. This small rent amounted in the aggre-
gate to a very large sum ; added to which, Fairfax required the payment
of ten shillings sterling on each fifty acres, (what he termed composition
money,) which was paid on issuing the grant.

About the year 1742, his lordship opened his office in the county of
Fairfax for granting out the land. A few years after, he removed to the
county of Frederick, and settled at what he called ¢“Greenway-Court,”
about 12 or 14 miles south-east of Winchkester, where he kept his land
office during hislife. He died-in the autumn of 1781, very soon after
the surrender of Cornwallis. It is said that as soon as he heard_ of the
capture of Cornwallis-and his army, he called to his servant to assist him
to bed, observing, <‘It is time for me to die;’’ and truly the old man ne-
ver again left his bed until he was consigmed to the tomb. His body was
deposited under the.communion#able in the then Episcopal church in
Winchester.}

*In the yedr 1786, Fairfax ertered a caweat against Hite, &c., alledg-
ing that the lands:claimed by them were within the bounds of the North-
ern Neck, and consequently his property. 'T'his was the beginning of
the controversy, and led to the suit instituted by Hite and partners against
him. All the parties died before the suit was decided. Hite in 1731
purchased from Jéhn and Isaac Vanmeter their right or warrant for loca-

sting 40,000 acres: Hite and McKay obtained a warrant for locating 100,-
000 acres more in their own names: andin orderto obtain settlers, took
“in Robert Green and William Duff as partners. Hence the firm of Joist
Hite, Robert McKay, Robert Green, and William Duff. Green and Duff
-settled in Culpeper county, and are the ancestors of the families of those
mames in that coustty, and of Gen. Duff Green, of Washington City.
tLord Fairfax made a donation to the Episcopal seciety, of a lot of
land, upon which a large stone building was erected as a place of worship.
The lot is in the center of the town; and, attached to the church, was a
large burial ground, in which a great number of bodres were deposited.
The Episcopal society lately sold at auction this ancient building and lot
for twelve thousand dollars. The purchasers caused the skeletons to be
removed, and there are now three elegant brick houses erectéd on the lot.
With the money arising from the sale the Episcopal sosiety - purchased a
lot on Boscowen and \ﬁashington streets, and have’ built a splendid new
church. It is to he regretied.that no accountsvas -taken of the wmumber
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In the year 1783 the Legislature of Virginia passed an act which ameng
other provisions (in relation to the Northern Neck,) is the following :

“And be it further enacted, that the landholders within the said dis~
trict of the Northern Neck shall be forever hereafter exonerated and dis-
charged from composition and quitrents, any law, custom or usage, to the
contrary notwithstanding.”* T'his act of the State freed the people from
a vexatious and troublesome kind of taxation. Fairfax’s representatives
soon sold out their interest in his private estate in this ceuntry, and it is
believed there is no part of this vast landed estate remaining in the hands
of any branch of the Fairfax family. Chief Justice Marshall, the late Ra-
leigh Colston, ksq., and the late Gen. Henry Lee, purchased the right of
Fanfax’s legatees (in England) to what is called the Manor of Leeds,t
South Branch Manor, Patterson’s Creek Manor, and various other tracts

- «of land of immense value—the most of which had been leased out for
long terms or lives. 'This estate has been the cause of more litigation
_probably than any other estate in Virginia. Suits growing out of the case
of Hite, &c., against I"airfax, are yet depending in our courts—and some
of the tenants in the Manor of Leeds have lately taken it in their heads
-that the Fairfax title is defective, and refuse to pay rents to the present
.claimants.  'This refusal has produced a lawsuit, which will doubtless be
along time pending.

This profligate manner of granting away lands in immense bodies was
unquestionably founded in the most unwise and unjust policy. Instead of
promoting the speedy settlement and improvement of the country—in-
stead of holding out to the bulk of society every possible encouragement
to make the most speedy settlement and improvement of the new count
—monopolies in several instances were given, or pretended to be sold to
a few favorites of the governing powers, whereby these favorites were
enabled to amass vast estates, and to lord it over the great majority of
their fellow men.  Such are the blessings of kingly governments. But
the people of this free and happy republic have abundant cause to rejoice
:and bless their God that this wretched kind af policy and high-handed
injustice is donc away, in the freedom and wisdom of our institutions,
and that we Lave no longer our ears assailed, nor our understandings out-
raged, with the disgusting, high sounding title of «“My lord I’ applied to
poor frail human beings.

Lord Fzirfax was the county lieutenant for Frederick for several years.

of skeletons removed.  The author inquired of several persons, who were
concerned in the removal, no one of whom could give any account of the
number. Tt is probable there were not less than 1,000—the skeleton of
Lord Fairfax among them. )

*See Revised Code of the Laws of Virginia, vol. i. p. 351.

+The Manor of Leeds is located in the counties of Culpeper, Fauquier
and Frederick, and contains about 150,000 acres; the South Branch Ma-
nor in Hardy, 55,000 ; Patterson’s ereck in Hampshire, 9,000 acres.—
Goony-Run Manor, whieh adjoins the Manor of Leeds, contains abeut
£.3;000 acres; and liex chiefly ie Shepandoah county.
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©On looking into the record of the proceedings of the court-martial, the
author found the following entry :

‘At a council of war, held for regulating the militia of Frederick coun-
ty, in order to take such steps as shall be thought mest expedient in the
present critical conjuncture, the 14th day of April, 1706 ; present, the Rt.
Hon. the lord Fairfax, county lieutenant; John Hite, major ; John Lind-
sey, Isaac Parkins, Richard Morgan, Saml. Odell, Edward Rodgers, Je- -
remiah Smith,* Thomas Caton, Paul Long, captains,

‘“‘Proposals having been sent to the several captains of the militia, sign-
ed by the commanding ofticer of the said militia, and dated the Tth day
of April, 1756, to get what volunteers they could encourage to go in
search of the Indian enemy who are daily ravaging our frontiers and com=
mitting their accustomed cruelties on the inhabitants; and the aforesaid
officers being met together, and finding the number of men insufficient to -
o against the enemy, it is considered that the men be discharged, bein
only fifteen. FAIRFAX.”?

From-this it appears that lord Fairfax, among others, was an attentive
officer in the time of the Indian wars. In truthit behooved his lordship
to be active. He had more at stake, and the command of greater funds,
than any other individual member of society. ‘The Indian hostilities re-
tarded the settlement of his large domain, and of course lessened his rev-
enue. It is said that his lordship was remarkable for his eccentricities
and singularity of disposition and character, and that he had an insatiable
passion for hoarding up English gold.t He never married; of course
Iefi no-child to inherit his vast estate; but devised his property, or a large
portion of it, to the Rev. Denny Martin, his nephew in England, on con-
dition that he would apply to the parliament of Great Britain for an act
to authorize him to take the name of lord Fairfax. ‘'This was done ; and
Denny Lord Fairfax, like his uncle, never marrying, he devised the es-
tate to Gen. Philip Martin, who, never marrying, and dying without is-
sue, devised the estate to two old maiden sisters, who sold it to Messrs.
Marshall, Colston and Lee.

He devised that part of his estate on which he resided, and which he
called ““Greenway-Court Manor,” (containing ten thousand acres, with a
large part of his slaves, &c.,) to another nephew, the late Col. Thomas
Bryan Martin, who had resided with him for many years previous to his
death. Col. Martin, like the others, never married. But he contrived to
make a daughter by a Mrs. Crawford, who Lord %"airfax had employed as
2 housekeeper.  After Fairfax’s death, Martin kept.this woman as a mis-
tress for several years: she died, and the daughter grew up and married

*Capt. Jeremiah Smith, the same who defeated the party of fifty In-
dians, and killed the French captain, noticed in a preceding chapter.

1Some four or five years ago the slaves of the Rev. Mr. Kennerly, the
present proprietor of “‘Greenway-Court,” in quarrying stone, net far from
Fairfax’s ancient dwelling-house, found about $250 worth of gold coin,
supposed to have heen hidden there by his lordship.
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the late Francis Geldart, who was a captain in the British service in the
war of the revelution. She died soop after her marriage without issue.
Martin gave Geldart about one thousand acres of land, part of “Green-
way-Court Manor,” with a number of slaves, &c. Col. Martin, after the
death of his daughter, employed a white housekeeper, a Miss Powers, to
whom he devised Greenway-Court, with one thousand acres of land, a
number of slaves, and all the residue of his personal estate of every de-
scription, (with the exception of part of his stock, slaves, and money.)
Miss Powers, after the death of Martin, married the late Mr. W. Carna-
gy, by whom she had an enlf' daughter, who is now the wife of the Rev.
Mr. Thomas Kennerly. Col. Martin directed by his will the sale of all
the residue of his estate, and the money arising from the sale to be remit-
ted and paid to his two maiden sisters in England.* Shortly after his
death an attempt was made to escheat the landed estate, and the suit was
depending some sixteen or eighteen years before its final decision. The
Court of Appeals atlength decided the question in favor of Martin’s leg-
ateles. . .

It is proper, before the subject of lord Fairfax’s immense grant is dis-
missed, to inform the reader, that a few years after the war of the revolu-
tion an attempt was made to confiscate all that part of his landed estate
devised to his nephew Denny Martin (afterwards Denny Lord Fairfax.)
But Messrs. Marshall, Colston and Lee, having purchased the estate, a
compromise took place between them and the state government, for the
particulars of which the reader is referred to the first volume of the Re-
vised Code of the Laws of Virginia, pp. 352, 353.

'The sale of the estate of lord Fairfax by his legatees in England, and
the devise and sale of the estate of the late Col. T. B. Martin, is the last
chapter in the history of the Fairfax interest in the Northern Neck,a
t\({:rritory comprising about one fourth of the whole of the present limits of

irgima.

';?he State of Maryland has lately set up a claim to a considerable tract
of territory on the north-west border of Virginia, including a part of the
Northern Neck. As the claim was pushed with much earnestness, the
executive of our State appointed Charles James Faulkner, Esq., of Mar-
tinsburg, a commissioner to collect and embody the necessary testimony,
on behalf of Virginia, on this interesting question. Mr. Faulkner’s able
report the author deems of sufficient interest to his readers generally to
insert in this work. It follows :

REPORT OF CHARLES JAMES FAULKNER, RELATIVE TO
THE BOUNDARY LINE BETWEEN VIRGINIA AND MARY-
LAND.

MarTiNSBURG, Nov. 6, 1832.
Sir: In execution of a commission addressed to me by your excellen-
cy, and made out in pursuance of a joint resolution of the General As-
sembly of this State, of the 20th of March last, I have directed my at-

*T'he estate sold for about one hindred thousand dollars,

1833
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tention to the collection of such testimoney as the lapse of time: and the
nature of the inquiry have enabled me to procure touching “the settlement
and adjustment of the western boundary. of Maryland.”” 'The division
line which now separates the two States on the west, and which has here-
tofore been considered as fixed by positive adjudication and long acquies-
eence, commences at a point where the Fuirfuz stone is planted, at the
head spring, of the Potomac river, and runs thence due north to the-Penn-
sylvania line. This is the boundary by which Virginia has held for near
a century ; itis the line by which she held in 1786, when the compact
made by the Virginia and Maryland commissioners was solemnly ratified
by the legislative authorities of the two States.

An effort is now made by the General Assembly of Maryland, to enlarge:
her territory by the establishment of a different division lme. We have
not been informed which fork of the Soutls Branch she will elect as the
new. boundary, but the proposed line is te:ran from one of the forks of the-
South Branch, thence due north to the Pennsylvania terminns. Itis
needless to say that the substitution of thelatter, no matter at which fork
it may commence, would cause an important diminution in the already
diminished territorial area of this State. It would deprive us of large:
portions of the counties of Hampshire, Hardy, Pendleton, Randolph and
Preston, amounting inall to almost half a mdlion of acres—a section of”
the commonwealth which, from the quality of its soil, and the character
of its population, might well excite the cupidity of a government resting
her-claims upon 2 less substantial basis than a stale and groundless pre--
tension of more than a century’s antiquity. Although my instructions
have directed my attention more particularly to the collection and preser-
vation of the evidence of such living witnesses ‘‘as might be able to testi--
fy to any facts or circumstances in relation to the settlement and adjust--
ment of the western boundary,” I have consumed but a veryincounsidera--
ble portion of my time in any labor or inquiry of that sort, for who in--
deed, now living, could testify to any “facts or circumstances” which oc--
curred nearly a century since? And if such individuals were now living,
why waste time in taking depositions as to those “facts,” in proof of”
which the most ample and: authentic testimony was taken in 1736, as-
the basis of aroyal adjudication? I have cousequently deemed it of more-
importance to procure the original doeuments where possible, if not, au--
thentic copies of such papers as would serve to exhibit a connected view
of the origin, progress and terinination of that controversy with the-
erown, which resulted, after the most aceurate and laborious surveys, in:
the ascertainment of those very ¢facts and circumstances’” which are now
sought to be made again the subjects of discussion and inquiry. In this.
pursuit I have succeeded far beyand what I had any ground for anticipa--
tion ; and from the almost forgotten rubbish of past years, have been ena--
bled to draw forth documents and papers whose interest may survive - the-
occasion which redeemed them from destruction.

To enable your excellency to form a just conception of the weight and
importance of the evidence herewith accompanying this report, I beg
Ieave to submit with it a succinct statement of the question in issue -be~
iween the governments of Virginia and Maryland, with some observations<
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shewing the relevancy of the evidence to the question thus presentel.

The territory of Maryland granted by Charles I. to lord Baltimore in
June 1632, was described in the grant as “that regionr bounded by a line
drawn from Watkins” point on Chesapeake bay to the ocean on the east;
thence to that part of the estuary of Delaware on the north which lieth
under the 40th degree, where New England is terminated ; thence in %
right line by the degree aforesaid, to the meridian of the fountain of the
Potomac ; thence following its course by its farther bank to its conflu-
ence.” (Marshall’s Life of Wushington, vol. 1, chap. 11, pp. 78—81, 1sf
edition

It is plain that the western boundary of this grant was the meridian of
the fountain of the Potomac, from the peint where it cut the 40th degree
of north latitude to the fountain of the river; and that the extent of the
grant depended upon the question, what stream: was the Potomac? So
that the question now in controversy grows immediately out of the grant.
The territory granted to lord Baltimore was undoubtedly within the char-
tered limits of Virginia: (See 11t charter of Hpril 1606, sec. 4, and the
2d charter of Muy 1609, sec. 6, 1st Hen. Stat. at Large, pp. 58—88.)—
And Marshail says that the grant ‘“was the first example of the dismem-
berment of a colony, and the creation of a new one within its limits, by
the mere act of the crown;” and that the planters of Virginia presented a
g::‘tition against it, ‘‘which was heard before the privy council (of Eng-

d) in July 1633, when it was declared that lord Baltimore should re-
tain his patent, and the petitioners their remedy at law. To this remedy
they never thought proper to resort.”

Whether there be any record of this proceeding extant, I have never
been able to learn. The civil war in Englard broke out about ten years
after, and perhaps the journals of the proceedings of the privy council
were destroyed. Subsequently to this, we are informed by Graham, the
planters, “fortified by the opinion of eminent lawyers whom they consult-
ed, and who scrupled not to assure them that the anctent patents of Vir-
ginia still remained in force, and that the grant of Maryland, as derogato-
vy to them, was utterly void,they presented an application to the parliament
complaining of the unjust invasion which their privileges had undergone.”
(Graham’s History, vol. 2, p. 12.) But as the parliaments of those days
were but the obsequious ministers of the erown, that application, itis
presumed, likewise shared the fate of their former petition to the privy
council. :

The present claim of Maryland, then, must be founded on the supposi-
tion that the stream which we call the Potomac was not; and that the
streara now called the South Branch of the Potomac, was in fact the Po-
tomac intended in the grant to lord Baltimore. I have neverbeen inform-
ed which fork of the South Branch she claims as the Potomac (for there is
& North and a South fork of the South Branch); neither have I been able
to learn what is the evilence, or kind of evidence, on which she relies to
ascertuin that the stream which is now called the South Branch of the
Potomac, but which of the date of the grunt to lord Baltimore was . not
known at all, and when known, known for many years only as the Wap-
pacomo, was the Potomac infended by loml Baltimore’s grant. For this
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imaportant geographical fact, I refer to the numerous early maps of the
khartered limits of Virginia and Maryland, some of which are to be seen
an the public libraries of Washington and Richmond.

The question, which strteam was the Potomac? is simplya questiont

which of them, if either, bore the name, 'The name is matter of general
reputation. If there be any thing whicls depends wholly updn genera
acceptation, whick ought and must be setthed by preséription, it is this
question, which of these rivers was and is the Potomac? The atcompas
nying papers, it is believed, will ascertain this faet to the satisfaetion of
every impartial inquirer.
. In the twenty-fitst year of Eharles II¢ 2 grant was made to lord Hop-
ton and others, of what is calléd the Northern Neck of VirgMia, which
was sold by the other patentees to lord Culpeper, and confittaed to him
by letters patent in the fourth-year of James 1I. 'This grant #arried with
it nothing but the right of soil and the incidents of ownership; for it
was expressly subjected to the jurisdictién of the government of Virginia.
Of this earlier patent 1 believe there is no'copy in Virginia. The original
charter from Jamtes 1I. to lord Culpeper accompanies: this report, marked
No. 1. They are both recited in the colonial statute of 1736. (1 Revs
Code, ch. 893 The tract of country thereby grated, was “all that entire
tract, territory and parcel of land, lying and Being in America, and boun-
ded by and within the heads of the rivers ‘I'appahannock alits Rappa«
hannock, and Quiriough alias Potomac rivers, the course of said rivers as
they are commonly called and known by the inhabitints, and description
of their parts and Chesapeake bay.” ‘

As early as 1729, in consequence of the eagerness with which lands
were sought on the Potontac and its tributary streams; and from the diffi<
culties growing out of conflicting grants from lord Fatrfax and the crown,
the boundaries of the Northern Neck proprietary became a subject which
attracted deep and earnest attention, At this time the Potomac¢ had beerr
but little explored; and although the stream itself aBove its' ¢onfluence
with the Shenandoah was known as the Cohongoroota, or Upper Poto«
mac, it had never been mede the subject of any very accurate surveys and
examinatiows, nor had it yet been settled, by any e¢ompetetit afthority,
which of its several tfibutaries was entitled to be feparded as the main
or principal branch of the river. It became important, thereforés to re-
mrove all further doubt upon that question. .

In Juney 1729, the lieutenant-governor of Virgirla: addresséd & com«
munication to the lotds commissionets of trade and t‘plasmtav.t,mnf affairs,
in which he solicits their attention to the ambiguity of the lo#d propries
tor’s charter; growing out ®f the fact that there wéte several streams
which might be claiméd as the head springs of Potothac river, among’
which he enumerates the Shemandoah, and expresses his determination
“to refuse the suspenston of granting of patents, until the case should be
fairly stated and determined according to the genuine eonstructiorf of the
proprietor’s -charter.” . This was .followed by a petition to the king it
council, agreet to by the house of burgesses of 'Vix;‘Finia, in June, 1730
in whick it is set forthy among oﬂmr;‘g\mtem of eomjflaint, “that the hewn



Samuel Kercheval, et. al. A History of the Valley of Virginia 1833

146 ‘FAULKNER’S REPORT,

springs of the Rappahannock and Potomac are not yet known to any of
your majesty’s subjects ; that much inconvenience had resulted to' gran--
tees therefrom, and praying the adoption of such measures as might lead
to its ascertainment to the satisfaction -of all interested.  Lord Fairfax,
who, by his marriage with the only daughter of lord Culpeper, had now
succeeded to the proprietorship of the Northern Neck, feeling.it likewise
due to his grantees to have the question relieved from all further diffi-
culty, preferred his petition to the king in 1733, praying that his majesty
would be pleased to order a commission to issue, for running out, mark-
ing, and ascertaining the bounds of his patent, according to the true in-
tent and meaning of his charter. An order to this effect was accordingly
directed by the king; and three commissioners were appointed .on behalf
of the crown, and the same number on behalf of lord Fairfax- The du-
ty which devolved upon them was to ascertain, by actual examination
and survey, the true fountains of the Rappahannock and Potomac rivers.
To enable them more perfectly to discharge the important trust confided
to them, they were authorised to summon persons before them, to take
depositions and affidavits, to search papers, and employ surveyors, chain-
carriers, markers, and other necessary attendants. The commissioners
convened in Fredericksburg, on the 26th of September, 1736, and pro-
ceeded to discharge their duties, by taking depositions, appointing sur-
veyors, and making every needful and requisite preparation for the sur-
vey. They commenced their journey of observation and survey on the
12th day of October, 1736, and finished it on the 14th of December, of
the same year; on which day they discovered what they marked
and reported to be the first fountain of the Potomae river. Separate re-
ports were made by the commissioners, which reports, with all the ac-
companying documents, papers, surveys, plans, &c., were, on the 21st
of December, 1738, referred to the couneil for plantation affairs. That
board, after hearing counsel, made a report on the 6th day of April, 1745,
in which they state, ““that having examined into the several reports, re-
turns, plans, and other papers transmitted to them by the commissioners
appointed on behalf of the crown, as likewise of lord Fairfax, and having'
been attended by council on behalf of yeur majesty, as likewise of lord
Fairfax, and having heard all that they had to offer thereupon, and the ques-
tion being concerning that boundary which ought to be drawn from the first
head or spring of theriver Rappahannock to the first head or spring of the
river Potomac, the committee do agree humbly to report to your majesty as
their opinion, that within the words and meaning of the letters patent, gran-
ted by king James II. bearing date the 27th day of September, in the fourth
year of his reign, the said boundary ought to begin at the first spring of
the South branch of the river Rappahannock, and that the said boundary
be from thence drawn in a straight line north-west to the place in the Al-
leghany mountains where that part of the Potomac river, which is now
called Cohongoroota, first rises.”” The Cohongoroota is known to be
the stream which the Maryland writers term the North branch of the
Potomac, but which is recognised in Virginia, and described on all the
maps and surveys which I have ever yet seen, as the Potomac river,
feom its first fountain, where the Fairfax stone is located, to its.confluence
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witk the Shenandoah ; there being, properly speaking, no-such stream as
the North branch of the Potomac. 'This report of the council for planta-
tion affairs was submitted to the king in council on the 11th of April,
1745, and fully confirmed by him, and a fuarther order made, directing the
appointment of commissioners to run and mark the dividing line agreea-
bly to his decision thus made. Commissioners were accordingly appoin-
ted, who, having provided themselves with surveyors, chain-carriers,
markers, &c., commenced their journey on the 18th of September, 1746.
On the 17th of October they planted the Fairfax stone at the spot which
had been described and marked by the preceding commissioners as the
true head spring of the Potomac river, and which has continued to be re-
garded, from that period to the present time, as the southern point of the
western boundary between Maryland and Virginia. A joint report of
these proceedings was made by the commissioners to the king,
accompanied with their field notes; which report was received and
ordered to be filed away among the records of his majesty’s privy
council. Thus terminated, after a lapse of sixteen years, a proceeding,
which had for its object, among other mgtters, the ascertainment of the
Sirst fountein of the Potomac river, and which resulted in the establish-
ment of that “fact” by a tribunal of competent jurisdiction. This de-
cision has now been acquiesced in for near a century; and all topo-
graphical description and sketches-of the country have been made to con-
form to it. I say acquiesced in, for it is impossible to regard the vary-
ing, fluctuating legislation of Maryland upon the subject, at one session
of her general assembly recognizing the line as now established, (see
compact of 1785, Session Acts of 1803, 1818, and others,) at another
authorizing the appointment of commissioners to adjust the boundary, as
a grave resistance of its conclusiveness, or such a continual claim, as un-
der the usages of international law, weuld bar an application of the prin-
ciples of uswcaption and prescription. (See Vattel, p. 251.  Grotius, lib.
2, cap. 4. Wolfius Jus. Nat. par. 3.)

Jurisdiction in all cases relating to boundaries between provinces, the
dominion and proprietary government, is by the common law of England
exclusively vested in the king and council. (1 Ves. sen. p. 447.) And
notwithstanding it may be a question of boundary between the crown and
the lord proprietor of a province, (such as that between lord Fairfax and
the crown,) the king is the only judge, and is presumed to act with entire
impartiality and justice in reference to all persons concerned, as well
those who are parties to the proceeding before him, as others not parties
who may yet be interested in the adjustment. (Vesey, ib.) Such is the
theory and practice of the English constitution ; and although it may not
accord precisely with our improved comceptions of juridical practice, it is
‘nevertheless the law which must now govern and control the legal aspect
of the territoriol dispute between Virginia and Maryland.

It does not appear by the accompanying papers, that Charles lord
‘Baltimore, the then proprietor of Maryland, deputed an agent to attend
upon his part in the examination and survey of the Potomac river. It is
-possible he conceived his interests suflicientlv protected in the aspeet
avhich the -controversy had ihen assumed hetween lord Fairfax znd the
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erown. Certain it is, that it nowhere appears that he ever considered
himself aggrieved By the result of that adjustment. That his government
was fully apprised of what was in progress, can scarcely admit of a ra-
tional doubt.  For it is impossible to coneeive that a eontroversy so
deeply affeating not only the interests of lord Baltimore, but all who were
eoncerned ip the purehase of land in that sectjon of the country, and con-
ducted with so much solemnity and notoriety, could have extended through
a period of sixteen years without attracting the attention of the govern~
ment of Maryland—a gevernment ever jealeus, because ever doubtful of
the original tenure by which her charter was held.  But had lord Balti-
more even eonsidered kimself aggrieved by the result of that settlement,
it is diffieylt now te conceive upon what ground he would have excepted
to its justice, or question its validity. Could he have said that the
information upon which the decision was founded was imperfect? Or
that the proceedings of the gommissioners were characterized by haste,
faveritism or fraud* 'This, the proceedings of that board, still preserved,
would eontradict, Far rever was there an examination conducted with
more deliberation, prosecuted with more lakor, er scrutanised with a
more jealous or anxious vigilanee. Could he have shewn that some oth-
er stream ought to have beeen fixed upon as the true head spring of the
Potomag?  This, it is believed, is impossible ; for although it may be
true that the South branch is a longer stream, it nevertheless wants those
more important characteristics which were then considered by the com-
. missioners, and have been subsequently regarded by esteemed geogva-
phers as essential in distinguishing a tributary from the main branch of a
siver. {See Flint’s Geography, vol. 2, p. 88.) Lastly, would he have
questioned the authority of the crown to settle the boundaries of lerd
Fairfax’s charter, without having previously made him a party to the
proceeding? 1 have before shewn the futility of sueh an idea.  Besides,
this would have been at once to question the autherity under whieh he
held his ewn grant; for Baltimore held by virtue of an arbitrary aet of
the second Charles, His grant was manifestly made in violation of the
chartered rights of Virginia, and carried into effect not only without the
acquiescence, but against the solemn and repeated remonstrances of her
government.  Was Virginia consulted in the [*‘dismemberment” -of her
territory ?  Was she made a party to that proeeeding, by which, ¢“for the -
. first time in colenial history, ome new province was created within the
ehartered limits of another by the mere act of the crown?”  But the fact
is, that Charles lord Baltimore, who lived for siz years after the adjust-
ment of this question, never did contest the prepriety of the boundary as
gettled by the commissioners, but from all that remains of his views arxl
proceedings, fully acquieseed in its accurary and justice. (See thwe
treaty with the Six Nations of Indians, at Lancaster, in June, 1744.)

The first evidence of dissatisfaction with the boundary as established,
which the researches of the Maryland writers have enabled them to ex-
hibit, are certain instructions from Frederick ¥ard Baltinore (successor
of Charles) to Governor Sharp, which were presented by the latter to his
eouncil in August, 1953. I have not been able to pwocure a copy of
those fustrugtions, but a recent historian of Mm‘yl;uul;:_ ad an izug,cniou.s
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advecate of her present claim, referring te them, says, ** His instrmctions
were predicated upon the supposition that the survey might possibly have
been made with the kmowledge and concurrence of his predecessor, and
hence he denies the power of the latter to enter into any arrungement as
to the -boundaries, which could extend beyond his life estate, & conclude
those in remainder.”  (See M’Mahon’s History of Maryland, p. 53.)

What were the precise limitations of those conveyances made by the
proprietors of Maryland, and under which Frederick lerd Baltimore de-
nies the power of his predecessor to enter into any arrangement as to the
boundaries, which could extend beyond his life estate, I am unable lo
say—my utmost researches have failed to furnish me with a copy of them
—but they were so far satisfactory to his lordship’s legal conceptions, as
to induce him to resist even the execution of a decree proneunced by
lord Hardwicke, in 1750, (1 Ves. sen. pp. 444—46) upos a written com-
pact as to boundaries, whieh had been executed by his predeeessor and
the Penms, in 1732. 'To enforce submission to that deeree, the Penns
filed a bill of reviver in 1734, and after an ineffectual struggle of six
years, lord Baltimore was cempelled with a bad grace $o submit, and
.abide by the arrangement as to the beundaries which had been made by
‘his predecessor. 'Fo this cireumstanee, in all probability, was lord Fair-
rfax indebted for his exemption from the further demands of the proprietor
+of Maryland.  For lord Frederick, no ways averse to litigation, had by
this time doubtless become satisfied that the power of his predecessor
«did extend beyond his life estate, and might even conclude. those in
remainder. Be that as it may, however, certain it is that the records
of Maryland are silent upon the subgect of this pretension, from Septem-
ber, 1753, until ten years subsequent to the compact between Virginia
:and Maryland in 1785,

An opinion prevails among our most distinguished jurists, resting
-solely upon traditionary information, that about 1761, Frederick lord
Baltimore presented a petition to the king and council, praying a revis-
ion of the adjustment made ir 1745, which petition was rejected, or afier
a short time abandoned as hopeless. If there ever was such a proceed--
ing, I ean find nothing of it in the archives of Virginia.

Be that as it may, it is certain that ever since 1745 lord Fairfax claimed
and held, and the eommonwealth of Virginia constantly to this day has
claimed and held by the Cohongoroota, that is by the northern branch, as
the Potomac, and whatever lord Baltimore or his heirs, and the State of
Maryland may have claimed, she has held by the same boundary. There
was no reason why lord Fairfax, being in actual possession, should have
«controverted the claim of lord Baltimore, or Maryland. If lord Balti--
more, or Maryland, ever controverted the boundary, the question must,
and either has been decided against them, or it must have been abandon-
ed as hopeless. If they never controverted it, the omission to do so, can
only be accounted for, upon the supposition that they knew it to be hope-
less. 1f Maryland ever asserted the claim—seriously asserted it I mean—
it must have been before the revolution, or at least during it, when we all
%now, she was jealous enough-of the extended territory of Virginia. Thke
«<laim st have had its origin before the compact between the we slutes, of”

-
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Muarch. 175, (1 Rev. Code, ch. 18.)  We then held by the same boun-
dary by which we now hold ; we held to what we called and now call the
Potomac : she then held to what we call the Potomac. Is it possiole to
doubt that this is thke Potomac recognised by the compact? That com-
pact is now forty-seven years old. .

- F'have diligently inquired whether, as the Potomac above the conflu-
ence of the Shenandoah was called the Cohongoroota, the stream now
called the South branch of the Potomac ever %ad any peculiar name,
known to and established among the English settlers—for it is well known
it bore the Indian name of Wappacomo. I never could learn that it was
known by any other name, but that which it yet bears, the South branch
of the Potomac. Now that very name of itself sufficiently evinces, that
it was regarded as a tributary stream of another river, and that river the
Potomac ; and that the river of which the South branch was the tributary,
was rexarded as the main stream.

But let us for a moment concede that the decision of the king in coun-
cil was not absolutely conclusive of the present question ; let us concede
that the long acquiescence of Maryland in that adjustment has not pre-
cluded a further discussion of its merits; let us even suppose the com-
pact of 1785 thrown out of view, with all the subsequent recognitions of
the present boundary by the legislative acts of that state, and the question
between the two streams now for the first time presented as an original
question of preference ;—what are the facts upon which Maryland would
rely to show that any other stream, than the one bearing the name, is
eatitled to be regarded as the main branch of the Potomac? It were idle
to say that the South branch is the Potomac, because the South branch
is a longer or even larger stream than the North branch which Virginia
claims to hold by. According to that sort of reasoning, the Missouri,
above its confluence with the Mississippi, is the Mississippi, being
beyond comparison the longer and larger stream. The claim of the
South branch, then, would rest solely upon its great length  In opposi-
tion to this it might be said that the Cohongoroota is more trequently
navigable—that it has a larger volume of water—that the valley of the
South branch 1is,in the grand scale of conformation, secondary to that
of the Potomac—that the South branch has not the general direction of
that river, which it joins nearly at right angles—that the valley of the
Potomac is wider than that of the Sonth branch, as is also the river
broader than the other.  And lastly that the course of the river and the
direction of the valley are the same above and below the junction of the
South branch. (See letters accompanyidg this report, No. 26.) 'These
considerations have been deemed sufficient to establish the title to the
““father of waters,” to the name which he has so long borne.  (See His-
tory and Geography of Western States, vol. 2, Missouri.) And as they
exist in an equal extent, so should they equally confirm the pre-eminence
which the Cohongoroota has now for near a century so proudly andpeace-
fully enjoyed.

"The claim of Maryland to the territory in question, is by no means so
reasonable as the clam of the great Frederick of Prussia to Silesia,which
that prince asserted and maintained, but which he tells us himself he ne-
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ver would have thought of asserting, if his father had not left him an o-
verflowing treasury and a powerful army. : '

With this brief historical retrospect, presented as explanatory of the ac-
companying testimony, I will now lay before your excelleney, in chreno-
logical order, a list of the documents and papers referrcd to in my prece-
ding observations. .

"No. 1. Is the original grant frem king James II. to Thomas lord Cul-
peper, made on the 27th September, in the fourth year of his reign.

No. 2. Copy of a letter from Major Gooeh, lieutenant governor of Vir-
ginia, to the lords commissioners for trade and plantations, dated at Wil
hamsburg, June 29, 1729. o

No. 3. Petition to the king in Council, in relation to the Northern
Neck grants and their boundaries, agreed to by the house of burgesses,
June 30th, 1730. :

No. 4. The petition of Thomas lord Fairfax, to his majesty in council,
preferred in 1733, setting forth his grants from the crown, and that there
had been divers disputes between the governor and eouncil in Virginia
and the petitioner, and his agent Robert Carter, Esq., touching the boun-
daries of the petitioner’s said tract of land, and praying that his majesty
would be pleased to order a eommission to issue for running out, marking
and ascertaining the bounds of the petitioner’s said tract of land.

No. 5. A copy.of an order of his majesty in his privy council, bearing

date 29th of November, 1733, directing William Gooeh, Esq. lieutenant-
governor of Virginia, to appoint three or more commissioners, (not ex-
ceeding five) who in conjunction with a like number to be named and
deputed by the'said lord Fairfax, are to survey and settle the marks and
boundaries of the said district of land, agrecably to the terms of the pat-
ent under which the lord Fairfax claims.
. No. 6. Copy of the commission from lieutenant-governor Gooch to
William Byrd of Westover, John Robinson of Piscataway, -and John
Grymes of Brandon, appointing them commissioners on behalf of his ma~
jesty, with full power, authority, &e.. o

[I have not been able to meet with a copy of the commission of lord
Fairfax to his commissioners—they were William Beverly, William Fair.
faz and Charles Curter. It appears by the aceompanying report of their
proceedings, that ‘his lordship’s commissioners delivered to the king’s
commissioners an attested copy of their commission,”” whieh having been
found upon examination more restricted in its authority than that of the
commissioners of the erown, gave rise o some little difficulty. which was
subsequently adjusted. ] '

No. 7. Copy of the instructions on behalf of the right honoroble.lord
Fairfax, to his commissioners. * o _

No. 8. Minutes of the proceedings of the commissioners apppointed onr
the part of his majesty and the right honorable Thomas lord Fairfax, from
their first meeting at Fredericksburg, September 25th, 1736.

No. 9. Original correspondence between the commissoners during the-
years 1736 and 1737, in reference to the examination and survey of the
Potomac river. . .

No. 10. The original ficld notes.of the survey of the Potomec river,
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the mouth of the Shenandoah to the head spring of said Pbtomac river, by
Mr. Benjamin Winslow.

No. 11. Theoriginal plat of the survey of the Potomac river.

No. 12. Original letter from John Savage, oue of the surveyors, dated
January 17, 1787, stating the grounds upon which the commissioners had
decided in favor of the Cohongoroota over the Wappacomo, as the main
branch of the Potomac. The former, he says, is both wider and deeper
than the latter.

No. 13. Letter from Charles Carter, Esq. dated January 20, 1737, ex-
hibiting the result of a comparative examination of the North and South
branches of the Potomac. The North Branch at its mouth, he says, is-
twenty-three poles wide, the South branch sixteen, &ec.

No. 14. A printed map of the Northern Neck of Virginia, situate be:-
twixt the rivers Potomac and Rappahannock, drawn 1n the year 1737,
by William Mayo, one of the king’s surveyors, according to his actual
survey in the preceding year.

No. 15. A printed map of the course of the rivers Rappahannock and
Potomac, in Virginia, as surveyed according to order in 1736 and 1737,.
(supposed to be by lord Fairfax’s surveyors.)

No. 16. A copy of the separate report of the commissioners appointed
on the part of the crown.  [I have met with no copy of the separate re-
port of lord Fairfax’s commissioners.] v

No. 17. Copy of lord Fairfax’s observations upon and exceptions to
the report of the commissioners of the crown. :

No. 18. A copy of the report and opinion of the right honorable the
lords of the committee of council for platation affairs, dated 6th April,
1745. -

No. 19. The decision of his majesty in council, made on the 11th of
April, 1745, confirming the report of the council for plantation affairs,
and further ordering the lieutenant-governor of Virginia to nominate thtee
or more persons, (not exceeding five,) who, i# conjunction’ with a like-
number to be named and deputed by lord Fairfax, are to run and mark
out the boundary and dividing line, according to his decision thus
made.

No. 20. The original commissioners from Thomas lord Fairfax to
the honorable Wm. Fairfax, Charles Carter and William Beverly, Esqrs.,
dated 11th June, 1745.

[Col. Joshua Fry, Col. Lunsford Lomax, and Maj. Peter Hedgeman,
were appointed commissioners on the part of the crown.]

No. 21+ Original agreement efitered into by the commissioners, pre-
paratory to their examination of the Potomac river.

No. 22. The original journal of the journey of the commissioners,
surveyors, &c., from the head spring of the Rappahannock to the head
spring of the Potomac, in 1746.  [This is a curious and valuable docu-
ment, and gives the only authenmtic narrative now extant of the planting
of the Fairfax stone. ] : .

No. 23. The joint report of the commissioners appointed as well onr
the pact of the crown as of lord Fairfax, in obedience: to' his majesty’s-
order of 11th April, 1735. :
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No. 24. A manuscript map of the head spring of the Potomae rivef;
executed by Col. George Mercer of the regiment commanded in 1756 by
General Washington. . _
No. 25. Copy of an act of the general assembly of Maryland, passed
February 19, 1819, authorizing the appointment of commissioners on the,
art of that state, to meet such commissioners as may be appointed fcr
the same purpose by the commonwealth of Virginia, to settle and adjust,
by mutval compact between the two governments, the western limits of
that state and the commonwealth of Virginia, to commence at the most
western source of the North branch of the Potomac river, dnd to ruri a
due north course thence to the Pénnsylvania line.” “ ;L
No. 26. " Letters from intelligent and well informed indi\"‘idualé, resi~
ding in the country watered by the Potomag and its branche§, addressed
to the undersigned, stating important geographical facts bearing upon
the present contioversy. . e
There ;are other papers in my possession, ,not listed nor referable to
any particular head, yet growing out of and illustrating the controversy
between lord Fairfax and the crown ; these are also heréwith transmit-
ted. . . "
There are other documents. again not at alt connected with my present
duties, which chance has thfown in my way, worthy of preservation in
the archives of the state. ~Such, for example, as the original “plan of the
line betwéen Virgima and North Cgrolinu, which was run wn the year
1728, in the spring and fall, from the sea to .Peter’s creek, by the Hon.
William Byrd, Wi, Dandridge and Richard Fitzuilliams, Esqrs. com-
missioners, and Mr. Alex’r Irvine and Mr. Wm. Mayo, surveyors--and
Jrom Peter's creek to Steep rock creek, was continued in thz full of the
year 1749, by Joshua Fry, and Pefer Jefferson.”’  Such documents,
should it accord With the views of your exeellency, might be deposited
with “thé Virginia Historical and Philosophical Soeiety,” an institution 2
of recent origin, yét founded upon the most expanded views of public
utility, and which is seeking by its patriotic appeals to individual
liberalify, to wrest, from ,the ravages of time the fast perishing records
and ndemorials of our early history and institutions.
With sentiments of regard, I am, very respectfully, your obedient

servant, .
LR CHARLES JAS. FAULKNER. .
To Joun Frovp, Esq. Governor of Virginia.

After perusing this masterly exposition, the reader will be at a losi
to conceive on what grounds Maryland can rest her claims to the ter:i or;
in question, and what authorities she can adduce to support them. ‘The.
controversy is still pending, and, in addition to Mr. Faulkner, Col. John
B. D. Smith, of Frederick, and John S. Gallaher, Esq. of Jeffersen, .-
have been appointed commissioners on the part of Virginia. A
U





